FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 2/2/2018 4:03 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/7/2018 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Court of Appeals Cause No. 49130-3-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KITSAP COUNTY, Respondent,

v.

KITSAP RIFLE AND REVOLVER CLUB, Appellant,

PETITION FOR REVIEW TO THE SUPREME COURT BY THE KITSAP RIFLE AND REVOLVER CLUB

Attorneys for the Appellant:

Bruce O. Danielson WSBA #14018 Danielson Law Office, P.S. 1001 4th Avenue, Suite 3200 Seattle, WA 98154 206-652-4550 bruce@brucedanielsonlaw.com

Dennis Reynolds WSBA # 4762 Dennis D Reynolds Law Office 200 Winslow Way W., #380 Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 206-780-6777

Art.																				-

Art. 1 § 241, 3, 8 15
ART. XI, Section 1111
STATUTES
Washington Statutes
RCW 9.4111
RCW 9.41.2901,7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13
RCW 9.41.300(2)
RCW 36.32.120(7)7
RCW 36.70B.020(4)1
RCW 36.70C.1301
RCW 58.172
RCW 64.04.010; 0405
RCW 82.02.02013
Kitsap County Code
KCC 10.25 1,2, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18
KCC 10.25.090
KCC 10.25.090(9)
KCC 17.570.010
Title 17 Kitsap County Code19
Rules of Appellate Procedure.
RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4)7 17 William B. Stoebuck, Washington Practice, Real Estate: Property law § 7.2, at 4475

I. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

Speaking of the Second Amendment- "it surely elevates above all other interests the right of law-abiding, responsible citizens to use arms in defense of hearth and home."¹

Petitioner seeks review of the validly of Kitsap County Ordinance No. 515-2014 (Ch. 10.25) which elevates local control of the discharge of firearms at an established gun range over a state law (RCW 9.41.290) that preempts such regulation. The line between state control and Second Amendment rights², and the allowable scope of local regulation, are of fundamental importance for reasons of state policy and basic Bill of Rights protections. RCW 9.41.290 ("The state of Washington hereby fully occupies the entire field of firearm regulation within the boundaries of the state…"). If the County's law is left in place, it allows local decision-makers discretion via imposition of a "special permit" requirement to shut down a facility which has been in safe operation since 1926.³ Denial of the permit application in this regard is limited to the restrictive review set out on the Land Use Petition Act, RCW 36.70C.130.

¹District of Columbia v. Heller, 554 U.S. 570, 635, 128 S.Ct. 2783, 171 L.Ed.2d 637 (2008).

² The 2nd Amendment to the United States Constitution applies to states via the 14th

³ KCC 10.25 requires the Club to obtain a special use permit, which is a type of permit that is typically considered a zoning entitlement. See RCW 36.70B.020(4). The permit is a license required from local government before a property owner can engage (or continue to engage) in certain land uses, i.e., operation of a shooting range. The County

This Court has accepted review of numerous cases raising localstate preemption issues. *See, e.g., City of Seattle v. Williams*, 128 Wn.2d 341, 908 P.2d 359 (1995) (state preemption of local DUI ordinance); *Simpson Timber Co. v. Olympic Air Pollution Control Authority*, 87 Wn.2d 35, 549 P.2d 5 (1976) (DNR permit standards preempt local air control authority regulations); *HJS Development, Inc. v. Pierce County ex rel. Dept. of Planning and Land Services*, 148 Wn.2d 451, 61 P.3d 1141 (2003) (RCW 58.17 preempts local platting ordinance).

Article I § 24 of the Washington Constitution and the Second Amendment to the United States Constitution, prohibit the impairing of citizens right to bear arms. *See Sumner v. First Baptist Church of Sumner*, 97 Wn.2d 1, 639 P.2d 1358 (1982) and *Open Door Baptist Church of Clark County*, 140 Wn.2d 143, 995 P.2d 33 (2000)).

Because the local law requires a discretionary license for the Gun Club's operation to continue, it intrudes on the exercise of fundamental constitutionally protected rights. That is especially true here because County deeded the land compromising the Gun Range to the Petitioner under covenant that the Kitsap Rifle and Revolver Club operate it pursuant to prescribed standards.

governmental entity that reviews and decides on the application is the zoning authority – the Planning and Community Development Department.

The local law may not take a gun out of the hands of the owner, but the County law prevents the discharge of such gun at a controlled range in a safe manner, which is a significant obstruction of the exercise of basic rights, since training and practice facilitates the exercise of Second Amendment rights which, after all, is a use right. It matters not whether the infringement on these rights is direct or indirect, although denying the use at facility designed for the safe discharge of firearms is very direct.⁴

The County cannot legitimately require a permit and then deny it where the facility's operations pre-date the new law and the facility has been safely operated for the better part of a century. Importantly, the County has found that the facility is in the public interest.

The right to keep and bear arms may be, in some cases, conditioned on the adoption/enforcement of reasonable regulations. *Morris v. Blaker*, 118 Wash.2d 133, 144,821 P.2d 482 (1992). But where the Court is faced with government action that effectively shutters shooting ranges - a necessary component of the exercise of the 2nd Amendment and Article I § 24 of the Washington Constitution - it is fair to analogize to the 1st Amendment strict scrutiny analysis of regulations that strip protections of spaces necessary to the exercise of religion and

⁴ Sumner v. First Baptist Church of Sumner, 97 Wash.2d 1, 639 P.2d 1358 (1982) and Open Door Baptist Church of Clark County, 140 Wash.2d 143, 995, P.2d 33 (2000).

free speech. Because the law burdens a fundamental Constitutional right, the presumption of validity is reversed. *Weden v. San Juan County*, 135 Wn. 2d 678, 689, 958 P.2d 273 (1998).

The Court also must resolve the effect of a real property transfer on application of the law. On May 11, 2009, the Board passed Resolution No. 087-2009 to assign and convey the property comprising the gun range to the Kitsap Rifle and Revolver Club the via a Bargain and Sale Deed (**Appendix A-1**). The Resolution specifically addressed safety and granted to KRRC the right to operate its facility with "full control" subject to covenants set out in the Deed. KRRC is obligated to keep its facility open to the public to accommodate the interest in shooting sports, which has increased while "safe locations to shoot have been lost to the pressure of urban growth." ⁵ Contract and Deed, ¶ 3, citing to Washington Law 1990, Ch. 195, Section 1.

⁵ The County has not shown any changes of circumstances since adopting the Resolution, or considered the Deed's covenant for the Club to operate its facility "...at all times in a safe and prudent manner and conform its activities to accepted industry standards and practices." (Deed, Covenant No. 5). Further, the County has not claimed breach of any Deed covenant. A round cannot escape the Gun Range's berms. *See* CP 403-435. *See also* CP 436-441, a comprehensive safety evaluation of the Club's facility and operations. The record shows there has never been a documented instance of a projectile leaving the property. (CP 184)

In its Decision, the Court of Appeals answered a contention the Club did not make—that the Deed foreclosed any regulation, and it chided Petitioner for its briefing and argument in this regard. Opinion, pp. 25-27. The contention actually argued is whether the Deed acted to confirm the Club status as legally nonconforming such that it falls within an exception to the challenged law for such uses or, alternatively, the Deed constitutes compliance with the "Special Permit" requirement.

A bargain and sale deed constitute a contract between parties. RCW 64.04.010; .040; *Erickson v. Wahlheim*, 52 Wn.2d 15, 319 P.2d 1102 (1958). Such contract includes the warranty of quiet use and enjoyment of the property, made by the seller (the County) to the purchaser (the Club). *Mastro v. Kumakichi Corp.*, 90 Wn.App. 157, 162, 951 P.2d 817 (1998) (quoting 17 William B. Stoebuck, Washington Practice, Real Estate: Property law § 7.2, at 447 (1995))(ruling that statutory warranty deed includes five covenants: (1) that the grantor was seised of an estate in fee simple (warranty of seisin); (2) that he had a good right to convey that estate (warranty of right to convey); (3) that title was free of encumbrances (warranty against encumbrances); (4) that the grantee, his heirs and assigns, will have quiet possession (warranty of quiet possession); and (5) that the grantor will defend the grantee's title (warranty to defend

- 5 -

Application of the County law to the Club violates the terms of the parties' contract and the warranty of quiet use and enjoyment of the Club property. The County cannot impair its own contract. *See* U.S. Const. art. 1, § 10 (states shall not pass laws impairing contracts); Wash. Const. art. 1, § 23 (no law impairing the obligation of contracts shall be passed). The two clauses are substantially similar and are given the same effect. *Washington Fed'n of State Employees v. State*, 101 Wn.2d 536, 539, 682 P.2d 869 (1984); *Birkenwald Distrib. Co. v. Heublein*, Inc., 55 Wash.App. 1, 5, 776 P.2d 721 (1989).

The Deed can be construed as an equitable servitude. The Deed and Resolution constitute the operational "permit" and are a grant of authority to KRRC to operate its range without any further requirements. KCC Chapter 10.25 is an attempt to take away such authority and hand it over to Kitsap County, in direct contravention of the Deed and the Resolution.⁶

⁶ This case does not involve an expansion, which ostensibly could bring into play a new regulation adopted after execution of the Deed and Contract, KCC Chapter 10.25. This matter <u>does involve the power to</u> shut down KRRC's facility, a remedy that was denied the County in *Kitsap County v. Kitsap Rifle and Revolver Club, et al.*, 184 Wn. App. 252, 337 P.3d 328 (2014) (hereinafter "*Kitsap Rifle I*") ("We hold that termination of the Club's nonconforming use status is not the proper remedy even though the Club did expand its use, engage in unpermitted development activities, and engage in activities that constitute a nuisance. Neither the Code nor Washington authority supports this remedy, and such a remedy would impermissibly interfere with legal nonconforming use"). In this regard, it is critical to note that the County has conceded that the range is a legal non-conforming use.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Kitsap Rifle and Revolver Club (the "Club" or "KRRC") is a non-profit corporation formally established in 1926. Since that time, the Club has operated as shooting organization for its members and the general public at the same location in Kitsap County, Washington. The Club submits this petition pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4) and asks that this Court grant its request for review.

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

In a published (in part) opinion, the Court of Appeals, Division II, terminated review on November 21, 2017 and affirmed and expanded on the trial court's ruling on summary judgment that: "RCW 9.41.290 does not apply here because KCC 10.25 (*Firearms Discharge*) is not a firearms regulation." (Opinion at 7) and, even if RCW 9.41.290 applies, KCC 10.25 falls within the exception per RCW 9.41.300(2). (Opinion at 7); Part Published Opinion terminating review dated November 21, 2017, **Appendix A-2** hereto. The Club filed a Motion for Reconsideration which was denied on January 3, 2018. **Appendix A-3** hereto.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

4.1 Whether the State of Washington's preemption of the entire field of firearms regulations per RCW 9.41.290 allows for the exercise of plenary police powers by a local government pursuant to the Washington Constitution Art. 1 § 11 and RCW 36.32.120(7), contrary to the holdings

in Lenci v. City of Seattle, 63 Wash.2d 664, 669, 388 P.2d 926 (1964) and Watson v. City of Seattle, 189 Wash.2d 149, 175, 401 P.3d 1 (2017)?

4.2 Whether RCW 9.41.290, which provides in pertinent part that: "The state of Washington hereby *fully occupies and preempts the entire field of firearms regulation* within the boundaries of the state, including the . . . *discharge*, . . . or any other element relating to firearms or parts thereof, . . ." (Emphasis added), includes preemption of local firearms regulations of shooting facilities?

4.3 Whether Kitsap County Code ("KCC") 10.25 *Firearms Discharge*, regulates the discharge of firearms for individuals wishing to practice, improve upon or compete as to their shooting skills, is a firearms regulation subject to preemption by RCW 9.41.290?

4.4 Whether the burden of proof of facts essential to invoke a statutory exception to RCW 9.41.290 is on the County, and not on the applicant/Appellant, per this Court's holdings in *Weden v. San Juan County*, 135 Wash. 2d 678, 689, 958 P.2d 273 (1998) and *Hall v. Corporation of Catholic Archbishop*, 80 Wash.2d 797, 801, 498 P.2D 844 (1972)?

4.5 Whether Kitsap County's exercise of its plenary police power in regulatory matters accorded municipalities by Const. Art. 11, § 11, ceases when the state enacts a general law upon the particular subject, unless there is room for concurrent jurisdiction as held in *Lenci v. City of Seattle*, 63 Wash.2d 664, 669 388 P.2d 926 (1964)?

4.6 Whether the enforcement of KCC 10.25, without a judiciable determination concerning strict or heightened scrutiny, improperly infringes upon the Club's constitutional rights under the 2nd Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 1 § of the Washington State Constitution?

4.7 Whether a Bargain and Sale Deed⁷ with covenants (and a related County Resolution enacted to confirm the terms of such Bargain and Sale Deed) constitutes approval of the Club's activities such that it is exempt from the County's new regulations embodied in the local law, KCC Chapter 10.25.090, because a legal nonconforming use?

⁷ The Deed is found at **Appendix A-4**.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

KRRC is a non-profit organization formally established in 1926. For the preceding 90 plus years, the Club has safely operated a shooting range and supporting facilities at the same location in Kitsap County (CP 184) with a grandfathered right to continue control of its operations. (CP 78-79). It is undisputed that the operations of KRRC were established and maintained long before any permitting requirements of KCC 10.25.

In 2011, Kitsap County began the process of formulating the adoption of a countywide firearms discharge regulation applicable to current and future shooting ranges in Kitsap County. (CP 604). On September 24, 2014, the Kitsap County Commissioners adopted KCC 10.25, an ordinance entitled *Firearms Discharge*. KCC 10.25 requires each shooting range to apply for a permit. The Club did not apply, contending its operations were "grandfathered" and KCC 10.25 was preempted by RCW 9.41.290. (CP 75, 194).

The County filed a Complaint for Declaratory Judgment against the Club to enforce the requirements of KCC 10.25. The trial court granted the County's Motion for Summary Judgment. The Court of Appeals upheld the ruling and denied KRRC's request for reconsideration.

VI. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

If the Decision by the Court of Appeals is allowed to stand, it will render the State of Washington's preemption of firearms regulations, RCW 9.41.290, meaningless where local firearms regulations regulate shooting clubs and/or organizations and restrict their operations.

The Decision regarding the preemption of local firearms regulations in accordance with RCW 9.41.290 and .300(2) exposes the absence of clear controlling authority on the fundamental requirements required for the adoption of local firearms regulations in the state of Washington. The Decision transforms a legal contention by a local government into "evidence" that its ordinance qualifies for an exception under the preemption statute that allows for local firearms regulations under one limited circumstance. RCW 9.41.300(2) ("[W]here there is a reasonable likelihood that humans, domestic animals, or property will be jeopardized"). The Court of Appeals erroneously begins with this proposition as a matter of presumption and then shifts the burden of proof to support the argument that regulation of a fundamental right is not constitutionally proper onto the challenging party. It also failed to uphold the presumption of facts in favor of the non-moving party on summary judgment – here, the Club.

- 10 -

- A. The Court of Appeals Decision is in Conflict with Decisions of the Supreme Court, is of Substantial Public Interest and Raises Issues of Federal and State Constitutional Protections.
- *i.* The Court of Appeals Improperly Affirmed the Exercise of Local Police Powers Contrary to the State of Washington's Preemption of the Entire Field of Firearms Regulation.

The Decision reasons that KCC 10.25 is authorized under state law (Opinion, page 11) as an exercise of local police power. The Decision is contrary to the Supreme Court holding in *Lenci v. City of Seattle*, 63 Wash.2d 664, 669, 388 P.2d 926 (1964) that "[P]lenary police power in regulatory matters accorded municipalities by Const. Art. 1 § 11, ceases when the state enacts a general law upon the particular subject, unless there is room for concurrent jurisdiction." and *Watson v. City of Seattle*, 189 Wash.2d 149, 175, 401 P.3d 1 (2017) "The statute [RCW 9.41.290] thus acts as a limitation on municipal *police* powers,"

The Decision improperly treats a narrowly defined statutory exception to the State of Washington's preemption of firearms regulation, RCW 9.41.300(2), as creating concurrent jurisdiction with local governments. Because RCW Chapter 9.41 occupies the entire field of firearm regulation in the State of Washington, the Ordinance must yield to state law under ART. XI, Section 11 of the State Constitution. *Bellingham v. Schampera, 57 Wash.2d 106*, 109, 356 P.2d 292, 92 A.L.R.2d 192

- 11 -

(1960); *Diamond Parking, Inc. v. Seattle*,78 Wash.2d 778, 781, 479 P.2d 47 (1971). The authority to license *ispo facto* includes the authority to deny operation of the gun range. *See, e.g., New Castle Investments v. City of LaCenter*, 98 Wn.App. 224, 228, 989 P.2d 569 (1999) (defining "land use control ordinance" as one that " exercise[d] a restraining or directing influence over land use). Thus, the law is a direct regulation of firearms and indirectly regulates the discharge of firearms as it imposes stringent requirements on shooting facilities to obtain a license to operate.

ii. The Decision that RCW 9.41.290 did not Define "Firearms Regulation" and does not Pertain to or Regulate Shooting Facilities, is contrary to Express Legislative Language and Prior Holdings of the Washington Supreme Court.

The Decision improperly created a statutory exception to the unambiguous language of RCW 9.41.290 to exclude from the State preemption of firearms regulation "shooting associations." or "gun ranges." The Court of Appeals' adoption of an exception to the express language of RCW 9.41.290 is contrary to the Supreme Court holdings: "[W]here a statute provides for a stated exception, no other exceptions will be assumed by implication." (citations omitted) *Jepson v. Department of Labor and Industries*, 89 Wash.2d 394, 404, 573, P.2d 10 (1977); and *Watson v. City of Seattle*, 189 Wash.2d 149, 401 P.3d 1 (2017), "RCW 9.41.290 preempts only municipal gun "regulation," not taxation." *Watson*, 155, 159; "RCW 9.41.290, by contrast, contemplates limiting the exercise of municipal regulatory control over firearms." *Watson* at 174.

The Court of Appeals holding that "There is no indication that the legislature intended to preempt local ordinances requiring shooting facilities to obtain operating permits." (Opinion, page 10) represents statutory construction contrary to the holding of the Washington Supreme Court in *State v. J.P.*, 149 Wn.2d 444, 450, 69 P.3d 318 (2003), and *Rivard v. State*, 168 Wn.2d 775, 784, 231 P.3d 186 (2010).

iii. The Decision of the Court of Appeals Relying Upon Generalized Ordinance Goals and a Presumption of Facts to Support KCC 10.25 as an Exception to Preemption per RCW 9.41.300(2) Without Specific Relevant Findings is Contrary to Prior Decisions of the Washington Supreme Court.

KCC 10.25 includes a generalized statement of intent concerning public safety, etc. No evidence was produced at the trial court to establish that KCC 10.25 was adopted because of a documented actual likelihood that humans, domestic animals, or property will be jeopardized.

The Decision improperly held that facts are presumed to support a local ordinance and that prior litigation provides support for the adoption of KCC 10.25 as an exception to RCW 9.41.300(2). The County, not the Petitioner, has the burden of proving that the exception applies. "[T]he Proponent (*of a statutory exception) has the burden of proving every fact essential to the invocation of the exception." *Hall, supra, at 847.* "In *Isla*

Verde, our Supreme Court held that, for purposes of RCW 82.02.020, [State Preemption of the field of taxes upon retail sales of tangible personal property], the burden of establishing a statutory exception is on the party claiming the exception." *Home Builders Ass'n of Kitsap County v. City of Bainbridge*, 137 Wn. App. 338, 437, 153 P.3d. 231 (2007). The Washington Supreme Court decision, *Hall v. Corporation of Catholic Archbishop of Seattle*, 80 Wn.2d 797, 847, 498 P.2d 844 (1972), held: "It is a well settled rule of statutory construction that exceptions to legislative enactments must be strictly construed. (citations omitted). The foregoing rule has as its corollary the requirement that the proponent has the burden of proving every fact essential to the invocation of the exception." *Id.*

Washington courts presume the validity of ordinances. *Palermo at Lakeland, LLC v. City of Bonney Lake*, 147 Wn. App. 64, 193 P.3d 168 (2008). But, when a law or ordinance involves the regulation of a fundamental constitutional right, as here, the presumption *is reversed. See Weden v. San Juan County*, 135 Wn. 2d 678, 689, 958 P.2d 273 (1998) (If a "statute involves a fundamental right or a suspect class. . . the presumption is reversed"). The regulation and use of firearms involve fundamental Constitutional Rights. The County has the burden of proof that it has met the statutory requirements of RCW 9.41.300(2) to overcome state preemption and that it is authorized to regulate firearms

- 14 -

and the discharge of firearms consistent with state law and constitutional protections. *Weden, supra; Hall, supra*, 80 Wan.2d at 801-02.

Given the required narrow reading of the grounds allowing for the statutory preemption exemption for local regulation of shooting activities, and the fact that KCC 10.25 fails to allege or establish that one, or all, of the Kitsap shooting range operations present a "reasonable likelihood that humans, domestic animals, or property will be jeopardized," this Court should accept review and declare as a matter of law that KCC 10.25 is void. The County has made no showing that KCC 10.25 is necessary to prevent violence. The County determined in 2009 that KRRC's operations at its current location "is in the public interest for firearm safety." Res. 087-2009. CP 194.

iv. KCC 10.25 is subject to a Strict Scrutiny Analysis Under the Laws of the State of Washington. The County failed to provide evidence of a compelling State Interest or least Restrictive Means to achieve the State Interest and KCC 10.25 is Therefore Unconstitutional.

The right to keep and bear arms is a fundamental right under the United States Constitution and the Washington Constitution. "Article I, section 24 plainly guarantees an individual right to bear arms. "[T]here is quite explicit language about the 'right of the individual citizen to bear arms in defense of himself.": *State v. Sieyes*, 168 Wn.2d 276, 292, 225 P.3d 995, 1003 (2010).

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