FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/5/2018 11:12 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 95480-1 COA NO. 49130-3-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KITSAP COUNTY,

Respondent,

VS.

KITSAP RIFLE AND REVOLVER CLUB,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KITSAP COUNTY Superior Court No. 15-2-00626-8

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

TINA ROBINSON Prosecuting Attorney

CHRISTINE M. PALMER, WSBA NO. 42560 LAURA F. ZIPPEL, WSBA NO. 47978 Deputy Prosecuting Attorneys 614 Division Street, MS 35A Port Orchard, WA 98366 (360) 337-4992

Issue of
8
10
10

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases City of Seattle v. Ballsmider, 71 Wn. App. 159, 163, 856 P.2d 1113 (1993)3 Kitsap County v. Kitsap Rifle and Revolver Club, 184 Wn. App. 252, 283, 337 P.3d 328 (2014).......4 Lenci v. City of Seattle, 63 Wn.2d 664, 669, 388 P.2d 926, 930 (1964)..... 2 Mastro v. Kumakichi Corp., 90 Wn. App. 157, 162, 951 P.2d 817, 820 (1998)......9 Petstel Inc. v. County of King, 77 Wn.2d 144, 151, 459 P.2d 937 (1969).. 6 Rhod-A-Zelea & 35th, Inc. v. Snohomish County, 136 Wn.2d 1, 959 P.2d 1024 (1998)....... State v. Jorgenson, 179 Wn.2d 145, 156, 312 P.3d 960, 964 (2013) 7 Statutes Revised Code of Washington 9.41.290......5 Regulations Kitsap County Code 10.25 passim

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

Petitioner Kitsap County was the Plaintiff in the trial court proceedings and the Respondent in the appellate court proceedings. Kitsap County appears in this matter by and through its counsel, Christine M. Palmer and Laura F. Zippel, Deputy Prosecuting Attorneys for Kitsap County, and respectfully requests that the Court deny Kitsap Rifle and Revolver Club's ("KRRC" or the "Club") Petition for Review of the Court of Appeal's November 21, 2017 decision in *Kitsap County v. Kitsap Rifle and Revolver Club*, 1 Wn. App.2d 393, 405 P.3d 1026 (2017) (COA Cause No. 49130-3-II) (the "Opinion").

II. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

KRRC challenges the constitutionality of Article 2, Chapter 10.25 of the Kitsap County Code ("KCC 10.25") and its enforceability against KRRC. Generally, KCC 10.25 requires shooting facilities within Kitsap County to obtain an operating permit. The Court of Appeals correctly held that KCC 10.25 is a constitutional police power regulation and is enforceable against KRRC.

In this response to KRRC's Petition for Review, Kitsap County relies upon and incorporates its briefing in this matter including the Response Brief of Kitsap County file in the appellate proceedings. For the

Court's convenience, however, Kitsap County offers the following as a summary of the issues raised by KRRC's Petition for Review and a brief explanation as to why review should be denied.

A. The Opinion Is Consistent With And Not In Conflict With Any Decision By the Supreme Court Regarding State Preemption

Review should be denied because the Opinion is consistent with this Court's holdings regarding state preemption. As indicated by KRRC, a local government's police power ceases when the state enacts a general law upon the subject. *Lenci v. City of Seattle*, 63 Wn.2d 664, 669, 388 P.2d 926, 930 (1964). The state has not enacted any regulation or stated any intent to preempt regulation regarding the operation of shooting facilities. KCC 10.25 is not preempted by state law.

Chapter 9.41 RCW is an extensive body of criminal regulations governing an individual's use of a firearm. It does not purport to impose civil regulation regarding the operations of a shooting facility or sporting facility on which firearms may be discharged. This area of regulation is untouched by the State and, thus, left to the local governments.

As the Opinion correctly holds, KCC 10.25 (which requires shooting facilities to obtain an operating permit and comply with shooting facility safety standards that promote the containment of projectiles) is not

a "firearm" regulation which is preempted by Chapter 9.41 RCW. KCC 10.25 requires a shooting facility to obtain an operating permit before allowing a firearm to be discharged at that facility. It has only a minimal and indirect effect on the use of firearms. KCC 10.25 indirectly affects firearms only in the same way that zoning laws, local tax codes, and business licensing requirements affect firearms. Because KCC 10.25 regulates the operation of shooting facilities, not the use of firearms, and imposes no criminal penalty, it is not preempted by state law.

Furthermore, even if it Chapter 9.41 RCW did apply, KCC 10.25 falls within the preemption exception which allows local government to enact firearm regulations when there is a "reasonable likelihood that humans, domestic animals, or property will be jeopardized." RCW 9.41.300(2)(a). The state legislature's purpose in creating this exception was to allow local governments "relatively *unlimited* authority in one specific area – *i.e.*, the discharge of firearms in areas where people, domestic animals, or property would be endangered." *City of Seattle v. Ballsmider*, 71 Wn. App. 159, 163, 856 P.2d 1113 (1993).

When KCC 10.25 was enacted, the Kitsap County Board of County Commissioners specifically found as follows:

WHEREAS, RCW 9.41.300(2) provides that a county may also, by ordinance, restrict the discharge of firearms in any portion of its jurisdiction where

there is a reasonable likelihood that humans, domestic animals, or property will be jeopardized so long as such ordinance shall not abridge the right of the individual guaranteed by Article 1, section 24 of the state Constitution to bear arms in defense of self or others; and

WHEREAS, the Kitsap County Board of Commissioners (Board) finds that the requirement of an operating permit for the establishment and operation of all shooting ranges provides assurance of the safe conduct of recreational and educational shooting activities in Kitsap County.

CP 48.

KCC §10.25.060 expressly states its purpose as follows:

The purpose of this article is to provide for and promote the safety of the general public by establishing a permitting procedure and rules for the development and operation of shooting range facilities.

The appellate court recognizes that when the Kitsap County Board of County Commissioners adopted KCC 10.25 and made these legislative pronouncements, it was aware of the Court of Appeal's decision issued one month earlier in *Kitsap County v. Kitsap Rifle and Revolver Club*, 184 Wn. App. 252, 283, 337 P.3d 328 (2014) where it was determined that KRRC's range facilities were inadequate to prevent bullets from leaving the property and t was more likely than not that bullets would escape the shooting areas and possibly strike persons or property in the future. Opinion at page 15.

Accordingly, the Opinion's holding that Chapter 10.25 is not preempted by state law is consistent with Supreme Court decisions regarding state preemption. Review should be denied.

B. The Court of Appeals Did Not Create Any New "Statutory Exceptions" to RCW 9.41.290 In Conflict With Any Washington Holding

KRRC incorrectly claims that the Opinion creates a new "statutory exception" to RCW 9.41.290 for "shooting associations" or "gun ranges" which, KRRC argues, is in conflict with case law. However, the Opinion does not create any new exceptions to Chapter 9.41. Instead it correctly holds that Chapter 9.41 does not regulate or state an intention to preempt regulations governing the operation of shooting facilities. The Opinion is not in conflict with any other court holding.

C. The Opinion Is Consistent With Case Law Regarding The Sufficiency of Legislative Findings in The Enactment of Police Power Regulation

KRRC challenges the sufficiency of the legislative findings which qualify KCC 10.25 for the preemption exception outlined in RCW 9.41.300(2)(a). In holding that the legislative findings were sufficient, the Opinion is consistent with Washington case law on this issue and, therefore, review should be denied.

KRRC incorrectly asserts that the preemption exception of RCW 9.41.300(2)(a) does not apply to KCC 10.25 because Kitsap County's Board of County Commissioners did not make specific legislative findings that shooting ranges in Kitsap County present "a reasonable likelihood that humans, domestic animals or property will be jeopardized." As the Opinion correctly holds, KRRC provided no legal authority to support its contention that such specific findings are required. There is no such requirement in Washington law and RCW 9.41.300(2)(a), in particular, does not require this. As the Opinion states, local governments are not required to hold special investigations or make formal findings before they exercise their police power. *Petstel Inc. v. County of King*, 77 Wn.2d 144, 151, 459 P.2d 937 (1969). Opinion at page 14.

D. The Opinion Is Consistent With Case Law Regarding the Second Amendment and Article 1, Section 24

The Opinion is consistent with Ninth Circuit and other court holdings, including the United State Supreme Court, which consistently apply "intermediate scrutiny" to firearm regulations which might implicate the Second Amendment. The Opinion correctly holds that KCC 10.25 does not substantially burden a Second Amendment right because it does not prohibit the discharge of firearms and only affects the manner in which an entity can operate a shooting range. Opinion at 21.

The Opinion also correctly holds that KCC 10.25 satisfies intermediate scrutiny because its requirement of an operating license to ensure that shooting facilities meet certain standards is substantially related to its purpose of promoting the safety and protection of the public as well as shooting facility participants, spectators, and neighbors by establishing rules for the development and operation of shooting range facilities Opinion at pages 21-22.

The Opinion correctly analyzed KCC 10.25 in the context of article 1, section 24 of the Washington Constitution. KRRC's petition for review fails to recognize that the rights protected by article 1, section 24 are not identical to the rights protected by the Second Amendment and thus courts must analyze these issues separately. KRRC appears to assert that the Court of Appeals was required to apply a strict scrutiny analysis under article 1, section 24, however, that is not the proper analysis set forth by the Washington Supreme Court. The Washington Supreme Court has ruled that, under article 1, section 24, the right to bear arms is subject to "reasonable regulation," (i.e., "reasonably necessary to protect public safety or welfare, and substantially related to legitimate ends sought."). State v. Jorgenson, 179 Wn.2d 145, 156, 312 P.3d 960, 964 (2013).

E. The Application of KCC 10.25 Does Not Violate KRRC's Non-Conforming Use Rights

Contrary to KRRC's assertions, its status as a non-conforming use with respect to Kitsap County's zoning regulations does not exempt it from police power regulations. During both the trial court and appellate court proceedings, KRRC repeatedly asserted that, pursuant to the holding in *Rhod-A-Zelea & 35th, Inc. v. Snohomish County*, 136 Wn.2d 1, 959 P.2d 1024 (1998), it is not subject to police power regulation such as KCC 10.25 because it is a "nonconforming use." However, *Rhod-A-Zelea* determinatively establishes that a property owner's non-conforming use status is a concept and right enjoyed only with respect to zoning regulations and does not apply to other police power regulations. *Id.* at 6-9. Accordingly, non-conforming uses must comply with subsequently-enacted police power regulations. *Id.* at 9.

The Opinion correctly holds, consistent with other Supreme Court holdings, that application of KCC 10.25 to KRRC does not violate its "non-conforming use" rights.

F. The Enforceability of KCC 10.25 With Respect to the Bargain and Sale Deed Does Not Present A Legal Issue of Substantial Public Interest

While this case is important to the parties, it does not present a

legal issue that is of substantial public interest. The "deed" issues raised by KRRC are not recognized or supported by any legal authority, are specific to the facts of this case, and do not have general application.

The Opinion correctly rejects KRRC's argument that the Bargain and Sale Deed ("Deed") transferring ownership of the subject property from Kitsap County to KRRC renders KCC 10.25 unenforceable against KRRC. KRRC incorrectly, and without legal authority, asserts that the title warranties in the Bargain and Sale Deed include a right to "quiet use and enjoyment" of the property guaranteeing continued use of the property and precluding future restrictions on use. There is no such "quiet use and enjoyment" warranty. The five covenants made in a statutory warranty deed are solely with respect to title defects, not uses free from government restriction. See Mastro v. Kumakichi Corp., 90 Wn. App. 157, 162, 951 P.2d 817, 820 (1998). Furthermore, the Deed itself contains no express or implied promise or agreement by Kitsap County regarding the future regulation of the property or regarding KRRC's right to continued use of the property without future or further restriction. To the contrary, the deed contains restrictive covenants which limit KRRC's use of the property.

¹ For this reason, KRRC's argument that the Deed constitute a "contract" by which KRRC has the right to operate its shooting range consistent with its historical use free from restriction or regulation also fails.

KRRC incorrectly, and without legal authority, asserts that the

Deed confirms KRRC's nonconforming use status and constitutes a

"special permit" to continue in its nonconforming uses and activities

without further regulation. There is no support for this position in any

legal authority or in the express language of the Deed itself.

The Court of Appeals was correct in rejecting KRRC's

unsupported position that the Deed restricts Kitsap County's ability to

enforce regulations regarding activities or uses that occur on such

property.

III. CONCLUSION

The Opinion does not conflict with any Washington case law or

holding and does not involve an issue of substantial public interest. For

these reasons, the Court should deny KRRC's petition for review.

IV. NOTIFICATION OF ADDITIONAL CASES

Kitsap County hereby notifies the Court of the existence of

following additional pending cases between the parties:

COA Cause No.: 48781-1-II

COA Cause No.: 50011-6-II

COA Cause No.: 50574-6-II

10